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Chairman’s Statement 

 

Dear Shareholder, 

 

I am pleased to report on the Company’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and on 

a number of far-reaching corporate developments that have occurred during the year, particularly 

during the second half and which have continued into the first half of 2022. 

 

Change of status to an Operating Group 

The most important development during the period under review, and announced in an extensive 

market update on 27 September 2021, was the change in status from being an investing company to 

becoming an operating Group. This Report, therefore, for the first time, presents Eight Capital Partners 

Plc’s (“ECP” or “Eight Capital”) financial statements under IFRS reporting standards, consolidating the 

results and balance sheets of its wholly owned subsidiaries, Epsion Capital Limited (“Epsion”), and 

Innovative Finance Srl (“InnFin”), the latter acquired in May 2021 (together “the operating 

subsidiaries”). 

 

ECP has therefore evolved into an international financial services operating Group, whereby Epsion and 

InnFin source, advise on, finance, and deliver transactions, primarily involving SME businesses within 

the technology, media, telecoms and financial services sectors and in which ECP itself will potentially 

invest. 

 

Results 

Through its two subsidiaries, the Group recorded revenues for the year under review of £772,000 with 

a gross margin of over 70%. This income was further supplemented by ECP itself providing management 

services to certain investees and thereby recovering £128,000 of overhead costs.  Interest income less 

expense was a net surplus of £41,000 and the net movement in fair value of both realised and unrealised 

gains and losses on investments at fair value (explained further below) was a gain of £314,000. 

Overheads were relatively high, at £1.1 million; partly a reflection of the substantial professional support 

for the change in status outlined in the September update, and the Group result for the year was a loss 

before tax of £98,000. 

 

Subsidiary activities 

Epsion, our wholly owned UK Corporate Finance subsidiary, advised on seven bonds from January 

through to July, generating approximately £400,000 of revenue.  During the rest of 2021, Epsion 

concentrated on two related companies, providing advice ahead of potential standard listings.  If these 

companies are listed, there will be commensurate fee earnings derived from these clients. 

Innovative Finance S.r.l our wholly owned unregulated Italian Corporate Finance subsidiary, acquired in 

May 2021, has concentrated in the second half of the year on providing advice to investors and 

companies ahead of listing on the Standard List of the LSE. Approximately €350,000 of the fees are from 

advising investors and the remaining €50,000 are fees for initial consulting work for companies 

considering a listing.  If these companies are listed InnFin will earn appropriate fees.
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Eight Capital: update on prior year’s investments 

ECP’s investment portfolio now and as at 31 December 2021 is comprised exclusively of quoted 

companies. The private investments included in last year's report have either been sold (FPG – see 

below) or integrated into the Group (Epsion and InnFin). 

 

Finance Partners Group (“FPG”): Financial Services 

This investment was disposed of during the year, originally consisting of a receivable of €2 million with 

an ability to convert into equity acquired for €1.9 million.  The ability to convert was exercised and the 

resultant holding in FPG of 28.7% was sold for €2.15 million (equivalent to £1.83 million), of which €1.57 

million (£1.34 million) was paid on closing and the balance of €580,000 (£487,000) payable in 2022. The 

gain on disposal figure included in these accounts is £130,000 

Retained investments: combined loss in value recorded in these accounts: £116,000. 

 

Supply@ME Capital Plc (“SYME): Inventory securitisation 

SYME is an inventory monetisation business based on a novel asset securitisation concept, enabled by 

an innovative software platform. SYME is listed on the Standard List of the London Stock Exchange. 

SYME’s share price has not performed well and ECP’s £250,000 investment, acquired at a share price of 

£0.11 has seen a drop to £0.0017 at the year-end, with a total fall in value of over £200,000 since 

purchase. The movement during the year under review, included in the income statement, is a loss of 

£90,000. Although the share price reduction has been a source of concern, the Board recognises that 

the concept and possibilities for SYME were, and still are, interesting once a critical mass of investment 

capital to support securitisations can be delivered by SYME’s management. 

 

Evrima Plc (“EVA”): Mining and exploration investment 

Evrima was formerly Sports Capital Group (“SCG”) and ECP invested in a football related project from 

which SCG withdrew. They reverted to their previous sector of investment: mining and associated 

exploration and changed their name. The Company’s investment was approximately £140,000 and is 

currently £131,000, based on its quote on AQSE Growth Market. We will dispose of this investment in 

due course. 

 

Greencare Capital Plc (“GRE”): Investment in Cannabis health products and general wellness. 

The Company invested both prior to and at IPO when GRE listed on the AQSE Growth Market in 

December 2019. The total investment was £280,000 and the average price paid per share was 10.9p.  

The shares at the year-end – and currently – were quoted at 30.5p, having fallen slightly since the end 

of 2020. It was recently announced that Dominic White, Chairman of ECP, has become chairman of GRE. 

We await positive developments. 

 

Fair value adjustment on contingent liability 

The terms of the acquisition of InnFin included an earn-out formula contingent upon the attainment of 

certain levels of profitability in future years, creating a contingent liability towards the vendor at the 

date of acquisition in May 2021. The fair-valuing of this liability at 31 December 2021 has resulted in a 

positive adjustment in the income statement of £300,000. 
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Refined Growth Strategy 

As part of its transformation into an operating group, ECP has recently refined its growth strategy to 

focus increasingly on those businesses engaged in “Fintech” operations, including the digitisation of 

banking services and blockchain-backed decentralised finance and other disruptive financial services 

technologies, all of which seek to improve and automate the delivery and use of financial services. Your 

Board also considers there to be many value creation opportunities for shareholders from the further 

aligning and expansion of the activities of Epsion and InnFin.  

By combining their advisory and transactional expertise with the strategic utilisation of ECP’s growing 

in-house capital resources, ECP is able to provide significant support to the transactions managed by the 

operating subsidiaries through the provision of early-stage and growth co-investment capital to growing 

companies seeking finance for expansion, development, consolidation or acquisition, or as pre-IPO/RTO 

funding. 

The competitive advantage of ECP’s new operating structure is its flexibility in terms of where it invests 

in the “capital stack” pyramid, being equally comfortable with private or public debt and/or equity 

positions, convertibles and structured equity or debt facilities. Much of the financial services advisory 

market only delivers third party capital and advice, without direct access to supportive in-house capital, 

or having access to in-house capital lines with a less flexible mandate. 

 

Corporate Transactions during the year 

Eight Capital successfully completed a number of corporate transactions during the year, each one 

forming part of its strategic objective to grow the market capitalisation of the Company towards and 

beyond £50 million, and establishing a strong balance sheet base from which to significantly expand its 

operations and its own equity valuation. 

To this end, in May 2021, the Company acquired InnFin, based in Milan, which develops mergers and 

acquisitions and financing solutions across multiple sectors, primarily in Europe.  

In August, ECP disposed of its investment in Finance Partners Group SPA (“FPG”), an Italian-based 

financial services business, realising €2.15million. The profitable sale of this minority stake has provided 

ECP with a better strategic alignment between the Company’s two remaining wholly owned subsidiaries 

and its other activities with a primary focus on technological developments within the financial services 

industry, such as fintech SME funding solutions and digitisation of banking including decentralised 

finance technology, to be key growth areas. 

As announced on 4 August 2021 the purchaser agreed to pay ECP a total of €2.15 million for the 

acquisition of FPG.  The cash element of €1.57 million was paid immediately.  Discussions are ongoing 

relating to the final part of the settlement €0.58 million, which remains due, and against which an 

extra amount of Euros 10,000 has been paid to ECP plus further asset security backing provided to 

support the receivable, to the benefit of the Company.  The agreed latest date of payment is now 1 

September 2022. 
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In addition to these corporate transactions, and as part of the Board’s key strategic objective to build 

scale to the business by further strengthening the Balance Sheet, in August the Company purchased 

€40m 2.5% Fixed Rate Secured Bonds at Par from IWEP Limited, a company controlled by Dominic 

White, ECP’s chairman and ECP’s major shareholder, which significantly increased ECP’s gross assets. 

Consideration for the acquisition of the Bonds was settled by a one-year vendor loan which was 

subsequently restructured into a €15 million 4.8% Bond described below and a €25 million interest-free 

vendor loan (“Vendor Loan”). 

In September, the Company launched a €25million 4.8% Fixed Rate five-year Bond Programme, with an 

initial tranche, placed at launch and listed on The Vienna Stock Exchange. This Bond programme also 

provided a logical next step towards the continuing expansion of the Balance Sheet, whilst also providing 

better medium-term visibility for the refinancing of ECP’s existing 7% listed bonds which mature in July 

of this year.  

 

Corporate Transactions after the year end 

On 23 May, the Company announced that it had issued a further €5 million tranche of its 7% Bond to a 

third party that had acquired €5 million of the Vendor Loan from IWEP. In that announcement, ECP also 

reinforced its commitment to a transformational strengthening of the Company’s balance sheet through 

IWEP seeking to convert, subject to regulatory and shareholder consent, as much as possible of its debt 

with the Company into equity. 

These current and proposed balance sheet transactions are intended to consolidate and expand the 

Company’s service offering as well as helping it to develop a platform from which it can develop as a 

multi-faceted financial services company, whilst also providing a stronger base from which it can raise 

third party capital.  

 

Planned Placing and Open Offer 

As announced in the Corporate Update in September 2021, it is the Company’s intention to raise new 

equity capital via a placing once the restructuring of debt is completed. Your Board recognises that those 

who have already invested in the Company may wish to increase their investment and it is therefore 

anticipated that current shareholders will be invited to participate in the fundraise on the same terms 

as the debt conversions and equity placing. Further information will be given in due course. 

The Company also intends to provide an opportunity for all debt investors to convert debt to equity on 

the same terms, including the current outstanding 7% Bonds. 

 

Strengthening of the Management Team  

Integral to the success of the Company’s transition to an operating business has been the strengthening 

of its senior management team, with the appointment to the Board in June 2021 of former Bank of 

England Chief Accountant, David Bull, who joined initially as a Non-Executive Director and then, 

following the Company’s successful transition to operating group status, was appointed full-time Chief 

Executive Officer. 



 
 

EIGHT CAPITAL PARTNERS PLC 
Chairman’s Statement (continued) 
Annual Report & Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 

6 

David has responsibility for leading the further development of ECP’s financial services business, both 

organically and through acquisition, all within the context of fintech services. His knowledge and 

experience of technology and the way it relates to asset and commercial finance, international banking 

and the digitisation of banking services, combined with his strong risk management skills and proven 

business leadership qualities are already proving invaluable as we move towards more advanced 

technologies in the financial services sector. He will also be strengthening the operational management 

team with further additions in financial management and compliance, which will be at the heart of the 

Company’s operating activities.  

The Group is also delighted to have announced on 13 May 2022, the appointment of Richard Day to the 

Board of Epsion as its Non-Executive Chairman. Richard was co-founder of institutional stockbroker 

Arden Partners plc, where, from 2002 to when he left in 2015, he was head of corporate finance for 

much of that time, whilst playing an important role in building its sectoral and geographical presence. 

He currently holds chairmanships of two quoted companies: Pelatro plc, a “Big Data” analytics company 

on AIM and The British Honey Company plc, the premium British honey and craft spirits producer. He 

also chairs Eden Geothermal Limited, a private company drilling its first of two geothermal wells, 

adjacent to the Eden Project in Cornwall in the south-west of England. Richard’s broad experience of 

public markets, corporate finance and corporate governance across diverse business sectors is already 

having a significant influence and will without doubt be a huge asset not only to Epsion, but to the Group 

as a whole. 

 

Outlook 

2021 was a watershed year for Eight Capital. It successfully transitioned into a financial service operating 

group, completing a number of complementary corporate and financial transactions, strengthening 

both the Company’s operational capabilities and putting in place actions to radically strengthen its 

Balance Sheet. It has a clear strategy in place for the transformation of the business in terms of its size, 

market value and influence within the fintech sector of financial services and through our wholly-owned 

subsidiaries, Epsion and InnFin. 

The Board’s strategy is to grow the business both organically through the development of new financial, 

“fintech-led” services and by selective acquisitions to boost revenue and market presence, thereby 

significantly increasing shareholder returns. 

The Group has made a good start to the current financial year. We are nurturing earnings potential and 

structuring the business and the Balance Sheet for future sustained growth, while building value for 

shareholders. We have a strong and growing pipeline of opportunities that we intend to deliver through 

our business model and the management team in place to deliver significant growth over the next two 

years. The Board views the future with increasing confidence.    

 

 

 

Dominic White 

Chairman    
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The Directors present their strategic report for Eight Capital Partners Plc (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 
Principal Activity 
Eight Capital Partners Plc is financial services group quoted on the Aquis Stock Exchange Growth Market 
(“AQSE”). Its shares were admitted to trading on AQSE on 3 July 2018.  From 1 July 2021, it has been 
designated as a group operating in financial services.  In the period prior to that date, the Company was 
designated as an Investing Company.  

The Group’s principal activity is to provide corporate financial services and investment funds to quoted 
entities principally in the technology and financial services sectors with the objective of generating an 
attractive rate of return for its shareholders, predominantly through corporate advisory fee income 
from its subsidiaries, and new revenue streams and capital appreciation from investment in new 
“fintech” businesses from the digitisation of banking services to blockchain backed disruptive finance 
companies in wealth/asset management and trade receivables/inventory securitisation.   

The closing price of the Company’s shares at 31 December 2021 was 0.049 pence per share (2020: 0.025 
pence). 
 
Business Review 
The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated and Company Statement of 
Financial Position for the year are set out on pages 19 and 20 respectively. A review of developments 
affecting the Group during the year and of its prospects for the future appear in the Chairman’s 
Statement on page 2.  

Key Performance Indicators 
The Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) for the Company are listed as follows: 

  2021 2020 % change 

Earnings/(loss) per share (pence)   (0.01p) (0.04p) (75%) 

 
During the year the Company transformed from being an investment company to being an operating 
financial services group, providing international advisory services through its two wholly owned 
subsidiaries 
 
From a KPI perspective, the Group, which has only been recognised as an operating entity in this 
financial period, will be re-setting its performance criteria going forward to include fee income growth 
and acquisition of new mandates as well as the performance of its investments. 
 
Future developments 
The Chairman’s Statement on page 2 provides information on the outlook of the Group. 

Principal risks and uncertainty 
The Group's strategy is to follow an appropriate risk policy, which effectively manages exposures related 
to the achievement of business objectives. The Board is responsible for approving the Group's strategy 
and determining the appropriate level of risk. The key risks which the Group faces are detailed as 
follows: 
 

Business and investment performance risk 

Business performance risk is the risk that the Group may not perform as expected either due to internal 
factors or due to competitive pressures in the markets in which they operate. 
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Principal risks and uncertainty (continued) 

Business and investment performance risk (continued) 

The Group seeks investments in companies with growth potential. The Directors identify suitable 
investment opportunities in accordance with its investment strategy.  

By their nature, smaller businesses, whether quoted or unquoted, are more volatile than larger, more  
established businesses and less robust to withstand economic pressures.  

The risk is that the Group’s investments may encounter circumstances that result in a loss of value which 
could in turn damage the Group’s share price. 
 
The Board is of the view that obtaining timely information on the position of its investments is the most 
effective management tool and to reduce this risk has put in place monitoring reports on the 
performance of, and regular dialogue with the boards of the Group’s investments. 
 

Valuation risk 

Valuation risk is the risk that the value of the investment when made was overstated. The Board seeks 
to mitigate this risk by conducting due diligence on the history and prospects of investment targets and 
sourcing independent valuations and opinions. The risk is further mitigated by seeking to invest where 
there is a high valuation margin (valuation per share compared to price paid per share) and the prospect 
of early returns. 
 
Market conditions 

Market conditions, especially in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, may have a negative impact on 
the Group’s ability to make investments in suitable entities which generate acceptable returns, or to 
disinvest in a timely manner such that acceptable returns can be realised. 
 
This risk is mitigated by selecting quoted investments listed on liquid markets and unquoted investments 
where due diligence has indicated near-term liquidity events. 
 
Foreign exchange 

The Group has issued Euro-denominated bonds and has made Euro-denominated investments. This may 
give rise to exposure to movements in the exchange rate between the Euro and GBP. This risk is 
mitigated by virtue of the bond liability and invested assets providing a natural hedge and management 
will seek at all times to mitigate any latent exposure by active currency management. The Company is 
monitoring matters and seeking advice from foreign exchange specialists as to how to mitigate the risks 
arising if and when they may occur and would consider using derivates to lock out exposures. 
 
Political and Country Risk – Departure of the UK from the European Union 

The Group is quoted in the United Kingdom (UK) and has made investments in entities that operate in 
the UK and European Union. The Group’s Euro investments may be subject to the impact of the UK 
leaving the European Union in terms of their share price and in turn the value of the Group’s 
investments. As a result, given the ongoing uncertainty surrounding the situation the Group is 
monitoring matters and will be seeking advice as to how to mitigate the risks arising if and when they 
may occur. 
 
Promotion of the Group for the benefit of the members as a whole 

The Director’s believe they have acted in the way most likely to promote the success of the Group for 

the benefit of its members as a whole, as required by s172 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Promotion of the Group for the benefit of the members as a whole (continued) 

The requirements of s172 are for the Directors to: 

• Consider the likely consequences of any decision in the long term, 

• Act fairly between the members of the Group, 

• Maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct, 

• Consider the interests of the Group’s employees, 

• Foster the Group’s relationships with suppliers, customers and others, and 

• Consider the impact of the Group’s operations on the community and the environment. 

 

The Group is an early-stage investment company quoted on a minor exchange and its members will be 

fully aware, through detailed announcements, shareholder meetings and financial communications, of 

the Board’s broad and specific intentions and the rationale for its decisions. The Group pays its 

employees and creditors promptly and keeps its costs to a minimum to protect shareholders funds. 

When selecting investments, issues such as the impact on the community and the environment have 

actively been taken into consideration as is clear from the portfolio set out in the Chairman’s Statement.  

  

The application of the s172 requirements can be demonstrated in relation to the unwinding of the FIT 

acquisition at no loss to the Group, including the option to acquire a quid pro quo shareholding in 

Innovative Finance S.r.l to compensate for the cash element of the original FIT acquisition that would 

otherwise have been lost. This was considered to be the best route to enhanced longer term 

shareholder value for existing members.  

 

This strategic report was approved by the board of directors on 30 June 2022 and signed on its behalf 
by: 
 
 
 
 
Dominic White  
Chairman 
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2021. 
 
Directors  
The Directors of the Company during the year were: 
 
Dominic White  Chairman  
David Bull    Chief Executive Officer (appointed 24 June 2021)  
Martin Groak  Independent Non-Executive Director  
 
The Directors’ biographies can be found on page 14. 
 
Dividends  
The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
£nil). 
 
Directors’ remuneration  
The total remuneration of the Directors for the year was as follows:  
 

 Fees/  

Basic Salary 

£’000 

Paid in  

Ordinary Shares 

£’000 

Total 

2021 

£’000 

Total  

2020 

£’000 

Dominic White note 1 90 - 90 90 

Martin Groak *27 - *27 *43 

David Bull 55 - 55 - 

 172 - 172 133 

 

*Included in the above are £15,000 in 2021 and £31,400 in 2020, relating to fees incurred by Marker Management 

Services Limited, a company controlled by Martin Groak. 

 
The Director's remuneration is disclosed in full in the above table and is not linked to performance. The 
Directors are not entitled to any post-employment benefits, termination benefits or other long-term 
benefits. 
 

Pensions 
The Company had no pension schemes in place during the period under review. Dominic White is 
entitled to a contribution to a pension scheme of his choice, by the Company of 12% of his annual salary, 
subject to certain capital-raising targets having been met. As at 31 December 2021, no provision was 
recognised (2020: £nil), as disclosed in Note 23. 
 
Directors’ interests 

The following Directors had interests in the shares of the holding Company at the end of the year: 

 Total 2021 
No. of ordinary shares of 

0.01p 

Total 2020 
No. of ordinary shares of 

0.01p 

Martin Groak  60,143,000 60,143,000 

Dominic White note 1 467,669,173 400,000,000 
 
note 1      Held through IWEP Ltd, a company controlled by Dominic White



 
 

EIGHT CAPITAL PARTNERS PLC 
Directors’ Report (continued) 
Annual Report & Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 

11 

Option scheme 
At 31 December 2021, there were 134,000,000 share options issued to the Directors (2020: 
134,000,000), see Note 26. 
 

Events after balance sheet date 
Details of significant events since the balance sheet date are contained in Note 31 to the financial 
statements.  
 

Financial instruments  
Details of the use of financial instruments by the Company are contained in Note 28 to the financial 
statements.  
 

Substantial shareholdings 
As far as the Directors are aware, as at 23 June 2022 the following shareholders are Company Directors 
or interested in 3% or more of issued share capital of the Company. 

Shareholder 
Number of Ordinary 
Shares of 0.25p each 

% of Issued Share 
Capital 

Dominic White* 467,669,173 29.90% 

Concreta S.r.l              155,388,471  9.94% 

Bank of New York Nominees 80,984,210 5.18% 

Peel Hunt Holdings  77,453,348 4.95% 

Martin Groak  60,143,000 3.84% 

JIM Nominees 57,703,012 3.69% 

Rajesh Unnikandeth            52,000,000  3.32% 

Fabio Carretta            50,000,000  3.20% 

*Held through IWEP Ltd, a company controlled by Dominic White 

 

Share capital 
Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the 
Company’s issued share capital during the year, are shown in note 24. Each share carries the right to 
one vote at general meetings of the Company and carries no right to fixed income. 
 
There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both 
governed by the general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The Directors 
are not aware of any agreements between holders of the Company’s shares that may result in 
restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.  No person has any special rights of control 
over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid. 
 

Charitable and political donations 
The Company did not make any political or charitable donations during the year ended 31 December 

2021 (2020: £nil). 
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Board diversity 
Although the Board consisted of three male Directors, the Board supports diversity in the boardroom. 

Aside from the Directors, there are no employees in the Company. The Board will pursue an equal 

opportunity policy and seek to employ those persons most suitable to delivering value for the Company. 

 

Health and safety 
The Group is committed to providing a safe place of work for employees. Group policies are reviewed 

on a regular basis to ensure that policies regarding training, risk assessment, safe working and accident 

management are appropriate. There are designated officers responsible for health and safety and issues 

are reported at each board and executive meeting.  

 

Greenhouse gas emissions  
The Group is aware that it needs to measure its operational carbon footprint in order to limit and control 

its environmental impact. However, given the very limited nature of its operations during the year under 

review, it has not been practical to measure its carbon footprint. In the future, the Group will only 

measure the impact of its direct activities, as the full impact of the entire supply chain of its suppliers 

cannot be measured practically.  

 

Going concern  
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash of £202,000 and current investments of £34,569,000.  

As an operating business, the Group has fee income from its corporate finance activities and the 
performance and income from its investments, supported by aggregate bond facilities of up to €35 
million (of which €24 million has been utilised to date). Annualised normal running costs of the Company 
are circa £1.5 million including debt service, reduced by rebilling of shared services of approximately 
£120,000 and interest income of £860,000. As at the date of this report, the Company had 
approximately £100,000 cash at bank and anticipated near-term divesting revenues of up to £650,000, 
of which £500,000 is contractual for delivery in September 2022, and with a further £750,000 of 
investment assets at current market value earmarked for disinvestment in the second half of 2022. At 
Group level additional fee income of circa £1.2 million is expected. 

The Directors are therefore of the opinion that the Group has adequate financial resources to enable it 
to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law the Directors have elected to prepare the Group and Company financial statements in accordance 
with UK-adopted international accounting standards.   

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company, and of the profit 
and loss of the Group and Company for that period.  

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group and Company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s and Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. The Directors are also responsible for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and Company and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.   

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic 
report, Directors’ report, Directors’ Remuneration report and Corporate Governance statement that 
comply with that law and those regulations. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  
 
Statement of disclosure of information to auditors 

Each Director in office at the date of approval of this Directors’ report confirms that: 

• So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group's 
auditor is unaware; and  

• The Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditor 
is aware of that information. 
 

Independent auditor 

PKF Littlejohn LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and will be proposed 

for reappointment at the next Annual General Meeting. 

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and signed on behalf of the board 

by: 

 

Dominic White 
Chairman 
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Board of Directors 
As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors consisted of: 
 
Dominic White  
Chairman  

• Member of the Institute of Financial Analysts. 

• 24 years’ experience in the investment sector. 

• Held Board level investment positions at international institutions including Security Capital 
European Realty, Henderson Global Investors and Cordea Savills Invest Management. 

 
David Bull 
Chief Executive Officer 

• Chartered Accountant 

• Over 20 years’ experience in financial services 

• Technology driven with hands-on FinTech / digital “Challenger” bank background 

• Senior board roles in banking, asset finance, treasury and credit management 

• Managing Director of Epsion Capital Ltd., the Group’s regulated broking subsidiary 
 
Martin Groak  
Independent Non-Executive Director  

• Over 35 years of international business experience. 

• Retired Chartered Accountant (ICAEW: 1978-2012). 

• Multi-lingual, with a strong background in finance and financial control.  

• Broad sectoral experience: oil exploration, energy, mining, logistics and physical trading. 

• Formerly a director of five UK publicly listed companies. Currently Non-Executive Director of 
Tanfield Group plc, an AIM quoted investment company focused on the engineering sector. 

• Various Interim CFO positions, including managing the finances of the UK’s second-generation 
nuclear power station fleet.  
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Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Eight Capital Partners Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its 
subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statement of Financial 
Position, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and 
Parent Company Statements of Cash Flows and Notes to the  Financial Statements, including significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and UK-adopted international accounting standards and as regards the parent company 
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.  

In our opinion:  

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent 
company’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;  

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted 
international accounting standards; 

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-
adopted international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.  

 
Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed 
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  
 
Conclusions relating to going concern  
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the 
directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting included a review of the forecast for a twelve month period from the date 
of signing the financial statements, the financial information prepared by management, including 
challenges made to the underlying assumptions and stress-testing these, a review of management’s 
assessment of going concern including an evaluation of the forecasted revenue streams, and post year 
end information impacting going concern.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's or parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report. 
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Our application of materiality  

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the 
effect of misstatements. The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. The 
quantitative and qualitative threshold for materiality determines the scope of our audit and the nature, 
timing and extent of our audit procedures. The materiality applied to the group financial statements 
was set at £298,000. There is no comparative as the group was an investment company in the prior year 
and was not consolidated. In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any 
misstatements exceed materiality, we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, to 
determine the extent of testing needed. Misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be 
evaluated as immaterial as we also take into account the nature of identified misstatements, and the 
particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements 
as a whole.  

Materiality  
Basis for materiality and rationale for the benchmark 
applied 

Group materiality £298,000 
Performance materiality £208,600  

 
Parent company  
materiality £297,000 (2020: £70,000) 
Performance materiality £207,900 
(2020: £49,000)  

0.75% of gross assets was used, which is considered to be 
the most appropriate benchmark for an entity that buys 
and sells investments, and due to the change to an 
operating group, the two subsidiaries are in their start-up 
phase and therefore a generating low levels of income in 
the group. The gross asset value is also identified by 
management as a key performance indicator. 

70% of group materiality to ensure sufficient coverage for 
group and parent company reporting purposes. 

 
The group audit team performed a full scope audit of one of the trading components and the parent 
company. The remaining trading component was audited by a PKF network firm. For each component 
in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that was less than our overall group 
materiality.  

Performance materiality was determined at 70% of materiality for the group and parent company, 
based on our assessment of the relevant risk factors, the level of estimation inherent within the entities 
and our testing approach.  

We agreed with the board of directors that we would report all corrected and uncorrected 
misstatements identified during the course of the audit in excess of £14,900 for the group and £14,850 
for the parent company, in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds. 

Our approach to the audit 

In designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the 

financial statements. In particular, we looked at areas requiring the directors to make subjective 

judgements, for example in respect of assessing the judgements involved in the acquisition of Innovative 

Finance S.r.l, the recognition of the bonds and the carrying value and recoverability of investments in 

subsidiaries at parent company level, and the consideration of future events that are inherently 

uncertain. We also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating 

whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement 

due to fraud. 
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Our approach to the audit (continued) 

Of the two components of the group, a full scope audit was performed on the complete financial 

information of both. 

Of the two reporting components of the group, one is located in Italy and the audit was undertaken by 

a PKF network firm in Milan, operating under our instruction and the audit of the remaining component 

was performed in London, conducted by PKF Littlejohn LLP using a team with specific experience of 

auditing investment groups and publicly listed entities.  

This was performed for both consolidation purposes as well as local statutory purposes. We obtained 

and reviewed remotely the key audit working papers prepared by the auditors of the Italian component, 

as well as directing their work which related to the work performed on the significant risks identified at 

the group level.  The component auditor also provided their findings to us which were reviewed and 

challenged accordingly. The key audit matters and how these were addressed are outlined below.  

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of 

material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the 

greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the 

efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters.  

Key Audit Matter How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit 

matter 

Acquisition of Innovative Finance S.r.l (Note 14.2) 

On 10 Mar 2021, the group announced 

that it had executed an agreement to 

increase its ownership in Innovative 

Finance S.r.l from 59.9% to 100%.  

 

Due to the complexity and estimation 

uncertainty, there is a risk of material 

misstatement as the step acquisition 

may not have been correctly 

accounted for in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting 

Standard (IFRS) 3.  

 

See Note 14.2 for the disclosure note 

addressing the acquisition.  

 

Our work included, but was not limited to: 

• Obtaining and reviewing the share purchase agreement 

to ascertain whether the control was obtained and if 

the acquisition falls within the scope of IFRS 3;  

• Obtaining assurance over the accuracy of the 

acquisition trial balance; 

• Reviewing the step-acquisition accounting and 

considering whether the gain or change of ownership 

and goodwill arising from the acquisition were correctly 

calculated and accounted for.  

• Reviewing management’s assumptions around the 

recognition of the contingent consideration and 

whether this had been correctly reassessed at the year 

end, as required by IFRS 3. 

The acquisition was found to have given the group control 

over the entity and to be reasonable. 
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Key audit matters (continued) 

Key Audit Matter How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit 

matter 

Recognition of the bonds acquired (Notes 2 and 21) 

During the year, the group have 

acquired and issued bonds, 

representing a significant value of 

£33,619k and £16,430k respectively.   

Due to the complex nature of bonds, 

there is a risk that the recognition of 

bonds may be incorrect and the value 

may be misstated. The value of the 

bonds is significant so if this value is 

misstated this could lead to a material 

misstatement. 

See Note 2 and 21 for the disclosure of 

bonds held. 

Our work included, but was not limited to: 

• Reviewing the bond agreement for each bond and 

ensuring that the liability or asset has been accounted 

for correctly and is supported by sufficient and 

appropriate audit evidence; 

• Obtaining confirmation from the bond issuer to 

confirm balances and agreement to management’s 

workings; 

• Ensuring that all bonds issued are disclosed and valued 

in line with IFRS 9; and 

• Considering whether the transactions have been 

accounted for correctly within the financial statements 

in line with IFRS 9. 

We have concluded that the bonds are reasonable within 

the financial statements. 

Valuation of the parent company’s investments in subsidiaries (Note 14) 

The parent company owns a significant 

investment in subsidiaries of £3,810k. 

The value of the investments is linked 

to the underlying performance of the 

subsidiaries.  

Due to the complexity and subjective 

judgements applied to these 

valuations, there is a risk that the 

overall values are materially misstated. 

Most of the investments are at an early 

stage and therefore the valuations are 

linked to future performance. 

See Note 14 for the disclosure notes 

addressing this. 

Our work included, but was not limited to: 

• Obtaining and reviewing the directors’ impairment 

review of the carrying value of the parent company’s 

investments in subsidiaries.  

• Discussing with management the basis for 

impairment or non-impairment, including 

consideration of business strategy for the 

subsidiaries, and reviewing future revenue streams; 

• Obtaining and reviewing third-party valuations; 

• Ensuring the parent company has full title to the 

investments held; 

• Ensuring that appropriate disclosures surrounding the 

estimates, including a review of how these estimates 

were arrived at, are made in respect of any valuations 

and included in the financial statements. 

The carrying value of the investments was found to 

have been appropriately accounted for and be 

reasonable.  
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Other information  

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information 

contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the group and parent company financial statements 

does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, 

we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, 

we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 

statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006  

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:  

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements.  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their 

environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the 

strategic report or the directors’ report.  

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 

2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:  

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or  

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or  

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or  

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  
 

Responsibilities of directors  

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for 

the preparation of the group and parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they 

give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error.  

In preparing the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are responsible for 

assessing the group and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no 

realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements.  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 

procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect 

of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 

irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

• We obtained an understanding of the group and parent company and the sector in which they 
operate to identify laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a direct 
effect on the financial statements. We obtained our understanding in this regard through 
discussions with management, industry research, and our application of cumulative knowledge 
and experience of the sector. 

• We determined the principal laws and regulations relevant to the group and parent company in 
this regard to be those arising from Companies Act 2006, International Accounting Standards, 
AQSE regulations, UK and local employment laws, Bribery Act 2010 and Money Laundering 
regulations. 

• We designed our audit procedures to ensure the audit team considered whether there were 
any indications of non-compliance by the group and parent company with those laws and 
regulations. These procedures included, but were not limited to: 

o enquiries of management, review of minutes, the review of legal and regulatory 
correspondence and a review of regulated news service announcements. 

• We also identified the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud. 
We considered, in addition to the non-rebuttable presumption of a risk of fraud arising from 
management override of controls, including the potential for management bias identified in 
relation to the valuation of the investments and the valuation of the contingent consideration 
and we addressed this by challenging the assumptions and judgements made by management 
when auditing those significant accounting estimates.  

• As in all of our audits, we addressed the risk of fraud arising from management override of 
controls by performing audit procedures which included, but were not limited to: the testing of 
journals; enquiries of management, review of minute and Regulatory News Service (RNS) 
announcements, reviewing accounting estimates for evidence of bias; and evaluating the 
business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course 
of business.  

• As part of our group reporting instructions issued, the component auditor was required to 
report areas of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud. As part of our review 
of component auditors work, we required the component auditor to report on matters relating 
to local laws and regulations as well as how the risk of fraud at a component level was being 
addressed.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued) 

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, 

including those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with 

regulation. This risk increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the 

events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware 

of instances of non-compliance. The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud 

rather than error, as fraud involves intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or 

misrepresentation. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 

part of our auditor’s report.  

 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 

16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 

other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone, other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this 

report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

Zahir Khaki (Senior Statutory Auditor)  15 Westferry Circus 

For and on behalf of PKF Littlejohn LLP Canary Wharf 

Statutory Auditor London E14 4HD 

30 June 2022 
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Note 
2021 

£’000 

Revenue 6 772 

Cost of Sales (252) 

Gross Profit 520 

Administrative expenses 7 (1,101) 
Net change in unrealised/realised gains and losses on investments at 
fair value through profit or loss 18 314 

Other income 8 128 

Operating loss (139) 

Interest income 11 418 

Finance expense 11   (377) 

Loss before tax (98) 

Taxation 12 - 

Loss for the financial year (98) 

Other comprehensive income: 

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss: 

Currency translation differences (1) 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year, net of tax (1) 

Total comprehensive income attributable to the owners of the 
Parent (99) 

Earnings per share (pence) from continuing operations attributable 
to owners of the 
Company – Basic & Diluted 13 (0.01) 

The notes on pages 29 to 57 form part of these financial statements.
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GROUP Note 

2021 
£’000 

Non-current assets 

Goodwill 15 3,867 

Intangible Assets 17 13 

Property, plant & equipment 16 23 

Total non-current assets 3,903 

Current assets 

Investments 18 34,569 

Trade and other receivables 19 1,270 

Cash and cash equivalents 202 

Total current assets 36,041 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 20 428 

Borrowings 22 21,380 

Total current liabilities 21,808 

Non-current liabilities 

Long term bond 21 16,431 

Liability for contingent consideration 1,311 
Borrowings 22 203 

Total non-current liabilities 17,945 

Net assets 191 

Capital and reserves 

Share capital 24 1,453 

Share premium 2,068 

Share option & warrant reserve 26 15 

Convertible loan note 27 84 

Currency translation reserve (5) 

Retained earnings (3,424) 

Total equity 191 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

Dominic White 

Executive Chairman 

Company number: 09301329 

The notes on pages 29 to 57 form part of these financial statements 
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COMPANY Note 

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

Non-current assets 

Investment in subsidiaries 14 3,810 - - 

Property, plant & equipment 16 3 - - 

Total non-current assets 3,813 - - 

Current assets 

Investments 18 34,569 3,179 3,790 

Trade and other receivables 19 1,107 153 73 

Cash and cash equivalents 183 203 420 

Total current assets 35,859 3,535 4,283 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 20 238 120 135 

Borrowings 22 21,380 436 338 

Provisions 23 - - 11 

Total current liabilities 21,618 556 484 

Non-current liabilities 

Long term bond 21 16,431 2,945 3,005 

Liability for contingent consideration 1,311 - - 
Borrowings 22 - - 508 

Total non-current liabilities 17,742 2,945 3,513 

Net assets 312 34 286 

Capital and reserves 

Share capital 24 1,453 1,431 1,360 

Share premium 2,068 2,001 1,895 

Share option & warrant reserve 26 15 11 8 

Convertible loan note 27 84 84 84 

Retained earnings (3,308) (3,493) (3,061) 

Total equity 312 34 286 

The Company has elected to take the exemption under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from presenting 
the parent company Statement of Comprehensive Income. The profit for the parent company for the year was 
£184,831 (2020: £432,020 loss). 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

Dominic White 

Executive Chairman 

Company number: 09301329 

The notes on pages 29 to 57 form part of these financial statements 
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The notes on pages 29 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 

Share capital Share premium 
Share option 

& warrant 
reserve 

Convertible 
loan note 

reserve 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 31 December 2020 1,431 2,001 11 84 - (3,326) 201 

Loss for the year    - - - - (98) (98)
Other comprehensive 
income for the year 

- - - - (1) - (1)

Total Comprehensive 
Income 

- - - - (1) (98) (99) 

Movement in reserves - - - - (4) - (4) 
Share based payment - - 4 - - - 4 
Issue of shares 22 67 - - - - 89 

Total Transactions with 
Owners 

22 67 4 - - - 93 

As at 31 December 2021 1,453 2,068 15 84 (5) (3,424) 191 
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Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Share 
option 

& warrant 
reserve 

Convertible 
loan note 

reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 1 January 2020 1,360 1,895 8 84 (3,061) 286 

Loss for the year - - - - (432) (432)
Other comprehensive 
income for the year 

- - - - - - 

Total Comprehensive 
Income 

- - - - (432) (432)

Share based payment - - 3 - - 3 
Issue of shares 71 106 - - - 177 

Total Transactions with 
Owners 

71 106 3 - - 180 

As at 31 December 2020 1,431 2,001 11 84 (3,493) 34 

Profit for the year - - - - 185 185 
Other comprehensive 
income for the year 

- - - - - - 

Total Comprehensive 
Income 

- - - - 185 185 

Share based payment - - 4 - - 4 
Issue of shares 22 67 - - - 89 

Total Transactions with 
Owners 

22 67 4 - - 93 

As at 31 December 2021 1,453 2,068 15 84 (3,308) 312 

The notes on pages 29 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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  GROUP 

  2021 

  £'000 

   

Cash from operating activities   

Loss before tax  (98) 

Adjustments for:   

Net interest expense /(income)   41 

Net change in unrealised gains on investments at fair value through 
profit and loss  

(314) 

Share based payment expense   4 

Provisions  - 

Foreign exchange  (205) 

Increase in trade and other receivables  (1,117) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  308 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,381) 

    

Cash flow from investing activities   

Purchase of investments  (33,620) 

Proceeds on disposal of investments  1,830 

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (InnFin)   (902) 

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (Epsion)  (120) 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3) 

Interest income  418 

Net cash used in investing activities   (32,397) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares (net of issue costs)  - 

Loans received  20,969 

Proceeds from bond issue  13,185 

Finance charges  (377) 

Net cash from financing activities   33,777 

Net cash flow for the year   (1) 

   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  203 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  202 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (1) 

 

The notes on pages 29 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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  COMPANY 

   2021 2020 

  £'000 £'000 

    

Cash from operating activities    

Loss before tax  (185) (432) 

Adjustments for:    

Net interest expense /(income)   (41) 236 

Net change in unrealised gains on investments at fair value 
through profit and loss  

(314) (240) 

Share based payment expense   4 3 

Provisions  - (11) 

Foreign exchange  (197) 165 

Increase in trade and other receivables  (701) (81) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  118 (15) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,315) (375) 

     

Cash flow from investing activities    

Purchase of investments  (33,620) - 

Proceeds on disposal of investments  1,830 854 

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (InnFin)   (858) - 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3) - 

Interest income  418 22 

Net cash used in investing activities   (32,233) 876 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issue of shares (net of issue costs)  - 177 

Loans received/(cancelled)  20,969 (410) 

Loans to subsidiary companies   (250) - 

(Repayment)/Proceeds from bond issue  13,185 (227) 

Finance charges  (377) (258) 

Net cash from financing activities   33,528 (718) 

Net cash flow for the year   (20) (217) 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  203 420 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  183 203 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (20) (217) 

 

The notes on pages 29 to 57 form part of these financial statements. 
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1. General information 

Eight Capital Partners Plc (“the Company”) is a public limited company limited by shares and 
incorporated in England. Its registered office is Kemp House, 160 City Road, London, EC1V 2NX. 

The Company’s shares are traded on the Aquis Stock Exchange Growth Market under ticker ECP and ISIN 
number GB00BYT56612.   

The consolidated financial statements of the Company consist of the following companies (together 
“the Group”): 

Eight Capital Partners plc UK registered company 
Epsion Capital Limited UK registered company 
Innovative Finance S.r.l (“InnFin”) Italian registered company 

 
The Group's objective is to generate an attractive rate of return for shareholders, predominantly 
through capital appreciation, by taking advantage of opportunities to invest in the financial services and 
technology, media, and telecoms (TMT) sectors. 
 
2. Accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below.  
 
Basis of preparation 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in 
accordance with the UK-adopted international accounting standards. These are the Group’s first 
financial statements prepared in accordance with the UK-adopted international accounting standards. 
(see note 4). 

The Company was classified as an investment vehicle in the prior years ending 31 December 2021. On 1 
July 2021 Eight Capital Plc changed its status from an investment vehicle to an operating company. As a 
result, and in accordance with IFRS 10, some of the Company’s investments have been consolidated 
from this date. No consolidated comparative information has been disclosed as the Company was an 
investment vehicle and none of its investments met the requirements of IFRS 10 for an investment 
company.   

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the recognition of listed investments at fair value. 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, rounded to the nearest 
thousand (£’000), which is the Company’s presentation and functional currency. 
The presentational currency for Epsion Limited is Pounds Sterling and for InnFin is Euro as the subsidiary 
is registered in Italy.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 
disclosed in note 3. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Basis of consolidation  
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and all its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”).  

Subsidiaries include all entities over which the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible 
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group 
balances and any unrealised gains and losses on income or expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, and liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, and the equity interests issued. Identifiable assets 
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair value at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Where necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s 
accounting policies.  
 
Going concern  
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash of £202,000 and current investments of £34,569,000.  

As an operating business, the Group has fee income from its corporate finance activities and the 
performance and income from its investments, supported by aggregate bond facilities of up to €35 
million (of which €24 million has been utilised to date). Annualised normal running costs of the Company 
are circa £1.5 million including debt service, reduced by rebilling of shared services of approximately 
£120,000 and interest income of £860,000. As at the date of this report, the Company had 
approximately £100,000 cash at bank and anticipated near-term divesting revenues of up to £650,000, 
of which £500,000 is contractual for delivery in September 2022, and with a further £750,000 of 
investment assets at current market value earmarked for disinvestment in the second half of 2022. At 
Group level additional fee income of circa £1.2 million is expected. 

The Directors are therefore of the opinion that the Group has adequate financial resources to enable it 
to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group and Company 
The following IFRS or IFRIC interpretations were effective for the first time for the financial year 

beginning 1 January 2021.: 

 

Standards /interpretations Application 

IAS 1 & IAS 8 amendments Definition of Material 

IFRS 3 amendments Business Combinations 

IFRS 16 Amendments to provide lessees with an exemption from assessing 

whether a COVID-19 related rent concession is a lease modification 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted 
 

Standards /interpretations Application 

IAS 1 amendments Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-Current. 

Effective: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 

IFRS 3 amendments Business Combinations – Reference to the Conceptual Framework. 

Effective: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 

IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 Amendments regarding replacement issues in the contract of IBOR 

reform. 

Effective: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 

IFRS 16 Amended by Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 

2021 (amendment to IFRS 16) 

Effective: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 

IAS 1 amendments Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-Current. 

Effective: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 
 

There are no IFRS’s or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a 

material impact on the Company or Group.  

 
Investments in subsidiaries  
Investments in subsidiaries are held at cost less any impairment. 

 

Goodwill 
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value 
of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities acquired. Identifiable assets 
are those which can be sold separately, or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those 
rights are separable. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is 
not amortised but is tested annually, or when trigger events occur, for impairment and is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. 

Impairment test of goodwill  
For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 
independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for 
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of a related business combination and 
represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors goodwill. 

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management 
as equivalent to its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual 
assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 



 
 

EIGHT CAPITAL PARTNERS PLC 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 

32 

2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Impairment test of goodwill (continued) 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use. To determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each 
cash-generating unit and determines a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of 
those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures is directly linked to the Group’s latest 
approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset 
enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect 
current market assessments of the time value of money and asset-specific risk factors.  

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated 
to that cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in 
the cash-generating unit.  

With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications an impairment 
loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement within ‘finance income or costs.’ 

The results and financial position of Group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for each Statement of Financial Position presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that Statement of Financial Position; 

• income and expenses for each Income Statement presented are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses 
are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and 

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 

Intangible assets 
Computer software acquired in a business combination that qualify for separate recognition are 

recognised as intangible assets at their fair values. 

Subsequent measurement  
All finite-lived intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model whereby capitalised costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed at each reporting date. In addition, they are subject to impairment testing as described in Note 
17.  

The following useful lives are applied:  

  Software: 3 - 5 years



 
 

EIGHT CAPITAL PARTNERS PLC 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

33 

2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 

Intangible assets (continued) 
When an intangible asset is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is determined as the difference 
between the proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss within 
other income or other expenses. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during 
the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or 
revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 
 Furniture, fittings and computer equipment  3 – 8 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 

Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and 
reported in finance costs. 
 
Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 

Financial assets 
Classification 
Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. At initial recognition, the Group measures its financial assets at amortised cost which 
comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’. 

A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Recognition and measurement 
At initial recognition, an entity shall measure a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. 
At initial recognition, an entity shall measure trade receivables at their transaction price if the trade 
receivables do not contain a significant financing component. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Financial assets (continued) 

 
Derecognition 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a 
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

Derecognition also takes place for certain assets when the Group writes-off balances pertaining to the 
assets deemed to be uncollectible. 

 
Impairment of financial assets 
IFRS 9 mandates the use of an expected credit loss model to calculate impairment losses rather than an 
incurred loss model, and therefore it is not necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit 
losses are recognised. The new impairment model applies to the Group’s financial assets and loan 
commitments. The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss 
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.  

The Group is satisfied that the credit risk of its financial assets has not significantly increased and no 
provision for losses is required. The Group has concluded this on the basis of ongoing monitoring of the 
credit status of bank counterparties and the long-term operating relationships that the Group has with 
the other debtor counterparties. 
 
Listed investments 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from 
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price. These instruments 
are included as listed investments. Instruments included in quoted investments, which for the Company 
comprise AIM and AQSE investments. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Unlisted investments 
Unlisted investments that are not publicly traded and whose fair value cannot be measured reliably, are 
measured at cost less impairment. 

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire 
or are settled, or (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred 
to another party or (c) control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical 
ability to unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are held with the objective of collecting the contractual 
cash flows. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business 
if longer), they are classified as current assets.  If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 
 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. The Group applies the IFRS 9 
simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance 
for all trade receivables and contract assets. 
 
Due to the short-term nature of the other current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to 
be the same as their fair value. 
 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any evidence that it 
is impaired. A financial asset is considered impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.  Individual significant 
financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. All impairment losses are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less. In the consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Basic financial liabilities include trade and other payables.  
 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 
one year. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at 
transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
  
Long-term bonds 
Bonds are a form of fixed interest borrowing over a pre-determined period. The Company makes use of 
tradeable bonds to fund investments in unlisted entities and for general overheads. 
  
7% Bonds 
The Company issued 5,000 bonds of €1,000 each (the “Bonds”) to raise up to €5 million on the Vienna 
Stock Exchange's multilateral trading facility ("MTF") on 26 July 2019. The principal terms of the Bonds 
are as follows: - Issue price and redemption at par; - Interest of 7% per annum paid semi-annually in 
arrears; - Issue date of 26 July 2019 with a redemption date of 26 July 2022. In order to facilitate a less 
expensive and complex issuing method, all the bonds were issued, including to the Company if there 
was no third party. These bonds, described as “held in Treasury”, could then be issued to third parties 
via the secondary bond market as required. As at 31 December 2021, there were €1,090,000 bonds by 
value held in Treasury. Only those bonds that are issued to third parties are recognised as liabilities.  
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Long-term bonds (continued) 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual 
obligation is discharged, cancelled, or expires. 
 
4.8% Bonds 
On 2 September 2021, the Company issued bond notes to raise up to €25 million on the Vienna Stock 
Exchange's multilateral trading facility ("MTF") (4.8% Bonds). The principal terms of the 4.8% Bonds are 
as follows: - Issue price and redemption at par; - Interest of4.8% per annum paid quarterly in arrears; - 
Issue date of 3 September 2021 with a redemption date of 3 September 2026.  
 
As at 31 December 2021, a total of €15,050,000 of 4.8% bonds had been subscribed for by entities 
controlled by Dominic White, Chairman of Eight Capital. 
 
Share Capital 
Share Capital consists of two classes of share: ordinary shares and deferred shares. 

Both classes of share are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
Ordinary shares bestow full rights on shareholders. 
 
On 23 July 2018, each of the existing ordinary shares of 0.25 pence were sub-divided into one new 
ordinary share of 0.01 pence and one deferred share of 0.24 pence.  
 
The deferred shares do not entitle their holders to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general 
meeting of the Company, or to receive any dividend or other distribution. On a return of capital on a 
winding up or dissolution of the Company, the holders of the deferred shares shall be entitled to receive 
an amount equal to the nominal amount paid up thereon, but only after the holders of new ordinary 
shares have received £100,000 per new ordinary share.  
 
The holders of deferred shares are not entitled to any further right of participation in the assets of the 
Company. The Company shall have the right to purchase the deferred shares in issue at any time for no 
consideration. As such, the deferred shares effectively have no value. Share certificates were not issued 
in respect of the deferred shares, and they have not been admitted to trading on the Aquis Stock 
Exchange Growth Market. 
 
Warrants 
Warrants are an option to acquire shares between two future dates at a fixed price. They are 
occasionally issued to third parties that invest in the Company’s equity and are granted at the time of 
that equity investment.  
 
There is a notional cost of the warrants expensed through the income statement in the period in which 
the warrants are granted, based on the fair value of the option and recalculated for each subsequent 
accounting period. The fair value itself is determined using the Black-Scholes model.               
 
If the warrant options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any 
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Convertible Loan Notes 

The convertible loan note (“CLN”) is a financial instrument that can be converted to share capital at the 
option of the holder. As, the facility can only be converted to equity at the end of the term or earlier, it 
has been recognised in equity only, with no liability component.  

Revenue 
Revenue represents the consultancy fees for investment advisory services provided to clients.  

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process: 
1 Identifying the contract with a customer 
2 Identifying the performance obligations 
3 Determining the transaction price 
4 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 
5 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies 
performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. Revenue is 
measured as the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, 
value added tax and other sales taxes. 
 
Other income 
Other income is derived from recharging to investee companies’ certain costs associated with the 
investment process or recharging for the use of the Company’s own resources. It is classified as 
other income on the face of the income statement and is recognised when the Company’s right to 
receive payment is established. 
 
Interest income 
Interest on debt securities held at fair value through profit and loss is accrued on a time-proportionate 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable, which is the 
rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the debt security to its net 
carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest income is recognised gross of withholding tax, if any.  
Interest income on unquoted debt securities is recognised as a separate line item in the statement of 
comprehensive income and classified within investing activities in the cash flows statement. 
 
Interest payable 
Interest payable on both quoted and unquoted debt instruments held at fair value through profit and 
loss is accrued on a time-proportionate basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective 
interest rate applicable. 

In the case of interest payable on long-term bonds, where a proportion of those bonds is issued to third 
parties and the balance issued to the Company, interest on the total number of bonds issued must be 
paid in the first instance to the Paying Agent prior to the due date. The amount of interest relating to 
the bonds issued to the Company is then remitted back to the Company on the due date. Only the net 
interest burden (the total interest less the amount remitted back to the Company) is recognised in the 
income statement. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Taxation 
Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period. 

The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and is the amount of income tax payable in 
respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior year. 

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and labilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
Segment reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activity from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with and 
of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results, for which discrete financial 
information is available, are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Board to make decisions about resources 
to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance. The Group reports on a two-segment basis 
– holding company expenses and corporate advisory services. 
 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements  

Management makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Estimates and judgements 
are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including the expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the future, actual 
experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below. 
 

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies 
(a) Carrying value of investments 
The Company is required to make judgments over the carrying value of investments in unquoted 
companies where fair values cannot be readily established and evaluate the size of any impairment 
required. 

It is important to recognise that the carrying value of such investments cannot always be substantiated 
by comparison with independent markets and, in many cases, may not be capable of being realised 
immediately. Management’s significant judgement in this regard is that the value of their investment 
represents their cost less previous impairment. 

Further details relating to management’s assessment of the carrying value of unlisted investments can 
be found in the Strategic Report. Management have concluded that there are no indications of 
impairment to the value to the unlisted investments following this assessment. 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Company had either disposed of its unlisted investments or had 
consolidated them as subsidiaries.
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4. First-time adoption of IFRS 

These financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2021, are the first the Group has prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. For periods up to and including the year ended 31 December 2020, the Parent 
Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102, “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United 
Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102”). 

Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with UK-adopted international 
accounting standards as at 31 December 2021, as described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies. In preparing the financial statements, the Group’s opening statement of financial position was 
prepared as at 1 January 2020, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS. 

There were no material adjustments applied to the Group financial statements during the transition to 
IFRS. 
 
5. Segmental analysis 

The Directors are of the opinion that under IFRS 8 – “Segmental Information” the Group operated in 
two primary business segments in 2021: being holding company expenses and corporate advisory 
services. The secondary segment is geographic.  The Group’s losses and net assets by primary business 
segments are shown below. 
 
Segmentation by continuing businesses:    

 

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

Profit/ (Loss) before income tax     

Holding company 185 (432) (432) 

Corporate advisory services (283) - - 

  (98)  (432) (432) 

    

Net assets     

Holding company 312 34 286 

Corporate advisory services – net liabilities (121) - - 

 
Segmentation by geographical area: 

 

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

Revenue to external customers     

United Kingdom 433 - - 

Italy 339 - - 

  772 - - 

    

Profit/ (Loss) before income tax    

United Kingdom (47) (432) (432) 

Italy (51) - - 

 (98) (432) (432) 
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5. Segmental analysis (continued) 

 

Segmentation by geographical area (continued): 

 

2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

Net assets/(liabilities)    

United Kingdom 256 34 286 

Italy (65) - - 

 
 

6. Revenue  

 GROUP 

 2021 
£’000 

  

Revenue from external customers  772 

 772 

 

Revenue represents the consultancy fees for investment advisory services provided to clients.  

7. Administrative expenses  

 GROUP 

 2021 
£’000 

  

Commission on placing of bonds - 

Legal, professional fees 360 

Share based payment expense  4 

Staff costs 352 

Other costs/(gain) 385 

Total administrative expenses 1,101 
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8. Other income 

 GROUP 

 2021 
£’000 

  

Other income 128 

 

Other income comprises fees for management services provided to third party investees.  

9. Auditor Remuneration 

Services provided by the Company’s auditor and its associates 
During the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from 
the Company’s auditor: 
 

 GROUP 

 
2021 

£’000 

Auditors’ remuneration:  

- Audit fees  45 

- Other taxation services - 

- Non-audit services  25  

Total auditors’ remuneration 70 

 
Fees for non-audit services totalling £25,000 were incurred during the year relating to the reporting 
accountant role undertaken by PKF Littlejohn LLP.  
 
10. Staff costs 

 GROUP 

 2021 

The average number of persons (including executive directors) employed by the 

Group during the year: 
6 

 
2021 

£’000 

Wages and salaries (including directors) 352 

Directors’ fees 172 

Social security costs 6 

 530 

 
Director’s remuneration 

 COMPANY 

 
2021 

£’000 

Salaries and fees 172 

 172 
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11. Interest income and expense 

 GROUP 

 2021 
£’000 

Interest income  

Interest income 418 

 418 

  

Finance costs  

Other finance expenses (377) 

 (377) 

 

Other finance expenses relate to the net interest burden to the Company of the 7% and the 4.8% bonds 

issued by the Company on the Vienna Stock exchange during 2019 and 2021 respectively and described 

more fully in Note 21 below. 

 
12. Taxation 

 GROUP 

 2021 
£’000 

Analysis of tax charge/(credit) for the period  

Current tax   

UK corporation tax at 19.00% - 

Deferred tax  

Origination and reversal of timing differences - 

  

Tax on profit on ordinary activities - 

  

Deferred tax asset not recognised 809 

  

Reconciliation of tax charge  

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (98) 

Current tax on loss of the year at standard rate of UK corporation tax of 19% 
(2020 – 19%) (19) 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 

Income not taxable for tax purposes - 

Losses carried forward 19 

Tax in the income statement - 

 

The Company has tax losses of approximately £184,287 (2020: £165,287) to carry forward against future 
profits. The Directors have not recognised a deferred tax asset on the losses to date due to the 
uncertainty of recovery. On 10 June 2021, the UK Government’s proposal to increase the rate of UK 
corporation tax from 19% to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023 was enacted into UK law. 
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13. Earnings per share 

 
2021 

Earnings (£)  

Loss used in calculating basic and diluted earnings:   

Loss for the year (£98,000) 

  

Number of shares  

Weighted average number of shares for the purposes of basic and diluted 
earnings per share 1,479,362,244 
  

Loss per share (pence) (0.01) 

 
The calculation of basic earnings per share of (0.01) pence is based on the loss attributable to equity 
owners of the Company of £98,000 and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 
1,479,362,244 in issue during the period. Dilutive instruments are ignored when the overall result is a 
loss. 
 

14. Investments in subsidiaries 

  Company    

 Shares in group 

undertakings  

    
 £’000  

  Cost     
  At 1 January 2021       - 

  Acquisition of Epsion Capital Limited (Note 14.1)   100 

  Acquisition of Innovative Finance S.r.l (Note 14.2)  3,710 

  At 31 December 2021   3,810 
 

At 31 December 2021, the Group consisted of a parent company, Eight Capital Partners plc, registered 
in England and Wales and its two wholly owned subsidiaries.  
 

Subsidiaries: 

Epsion Capital Limited  
Registered Office: 8-10 Hill Street, London, United Kingdom, W1J 5NG 
Nature of business: Financial intermediation. 

Class of share % Holding  

Ordinary shares 100  

 

Innovative Finance S.r.l  
Registered Office: Via Turati 26 20121 Milano Italy 

Nature of business: Financial Advisory  
Class of share % Holding   

Ordinary shares 100  
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14. 1 Acquisition of Epsion Capital Limited 

 

On 4 November 2019, the Company acquired 100% of Epsion Capital Limited (Epsion) for a consideration 
of £100,000. The Company was classified as an investment vehicle until 1 July 2021 and in the previous 
financial year Epsion was therefore treated as an investment in a third party and not consolidated.  
 
In accordance with IFRS 3 'Business Combinations', this transaction has been accounted for using the 
acquisition method of accounting. The consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2021 includes the results of Epsion Capital Limited from 1 July 2021, the deemed date of the acquisition. 
The assets and liabilities of Epsion Capital Limited have been consolidated from the date of the 
acquisition using the fair value of their assets and liabilities at that date.  
 

The details of the business combination are as follows:   

     £’000  

Fair value of consideration transferred  
Amount paid in cash 100 

Total consideration 100 

  

Recognised amounts of identifiable net assets  

  

Investments 53 

Cash and cash equivalents  120 

Trade and other receivables  42 

Trade and other payables  (174) 

Total identifiable net assets  41 

  

Goodwill (Note 15) 59 

Total  100 

 

Goodwill of £59,000 recognised is primarily the future earnings potential of existing engagements. 
 
14.2 Acquisition of Innovative Finance S.r.l 
 
On 1 July 2022, the Company acquired 100% of Innovative Finance S.r.l. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 3 'Business Combinations', this transaction has been accounted for using the 
acquisition method of accounting. The consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2021 includes the results of Innovative Finance S.r.l from 1 July 2021, the deemed date of the 
acquisition. The assets and liabilities of Innovative Finance S.r.l have been consolidated from the date 
of the acquisition using the fair value of their assets and liabilities at that date.  
 

 



 
 

EIGHT CAPITAL PARTNERS PLC 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

45 

14.2 Acquisition of Innovative Finance S.r.l (continued) 

 

The details of the business combination are as follows:   

     £’000  

Fair value of consideration transferred  
Amount paid in cash 858 

Issue of shares in the Company 62 

Issue of bonds  600 

Vendor loan awarded 281 

Offset of loan owed to the Company 300 

Fair value of contingent consideration  1,609 

Total consideration 3,710 

  

Recognised amounts of identifiable net assets  

  

Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 13 

Intangible assets (Note 17) 11 

Cash and cash equivalents  45 

Trade and other receivables  63 

Loans  (156) 

Trade and other payables  (74) 

Total identifiable net assets  (98) 

  

Goodwill on acquisition (Note 15) 3,808 

Total  3,710 

 

The acquisition of Innovative Finance S.r.l. was settled in cash amounting to €1,000,000, and by the issue 
of 155,388,471 new ordinary shares in Eight Capital Partners plc for €71,300, by awarding a vendor loan 
of €328,700, by wavering the loan owed to the Company of €350,000 and by the issue of bonds held by 
the Company of €700,000. The total consideration for the purchase at acquisition date was €2,450,000. 

The purchase agreement included an additional consideration of £1,609,000 payable only if the target 
EBITDA at least equals the actual EBITDA of the Company in each of the three years following the 
acquisition of Innovative Finance S.r.l. The Company will pay 33.3% of the potential earnout of 
€2,450,000 in each year where the target has been met. 

The £1,609,000 of contingent consideration liability recognised represents the present value of the 
Group’s probability-weighted estimate of the cash outflow. It reflects management’s estimate 
probability that the targets will be achieved and is discounted using an interest rate of 5%. As at 31 
December 2021, there have been no changes in the estimate of the probable cash outflow. 

Goodwill of £3,808,000 recognised relates to the future earnings potential acquired.
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15. Goodwill 

  Group  

 2021 
£’000 

  Cost 
  

At 1 January 2021  - 

Recognition on acquisition of subsidiary – Epsion 

Capital Limited (Note 14.1) 

 
59 

Recognition on acquisition of subsidiary – Innovative 

Finance S.r.l (Note 14.2) 

 
3,808 

At 31 December 2021  3,867 

 

The goodwill at 31 December 2021 represents the goodwill recognised at 1 July 2021, being the 
purchase of the Company’s subsidiary companies Epsion Capital Limited and Innovative Finance srl.  
The goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed on an annual basis for impairment, or more frequently if 
there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. The impairment review comprises a comparison 
of the carrying amount of the goodwill with its recoverable amount (the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use). No impairment was deemed necessary for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 

16. Property, plant and equipment 

  

   

Furniture & 

Equipment Total 

Group    £’000 £’000 

Cost      

At 1 January 2021    - - 

Acquisition through 

business combination    13 13 

Exchange differences    - - 

Additions    12 12 

At 31 December 2021    25 25 

      

Depreciation      

At 1 January 2021    - - 

Charge for the year    2 2 

Exchange differences    - - 

At 31 December 2021  2 2 

    

Carrying amount      

At 31 December 2021    23 23 

At 31 December 2020    - - 
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17. Intangible assets 

    Software Total 

Group    £’000 £’000 

Cost      

At 1 January 2021    - - 

Acquisition through 

business combination    13 13 

Exchange differences    - - 

Additions    - - 

At 31 December 2021    13 13 

      

Amortisation      

At 1 January 2021    - - 

Charge for the year    - - 

Exchange differences    - - 

At 31 December 2021  - - 

    

Carrying amount      

At 31 December 2021    13 13 

At 31 December 2020    - - 

 

The intangible assets comprise computer software acquired by the Group.   
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18. Investments 

The table below sets out the fair value measurements. Categorisation has been determined on the basis 
of listed or unlisted investments as follows: 

Group Unlisted 
Investments 

£’000 

Listed 
Investments 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Fair value at 1 January 2020 2,817 973 3,790 

Investment disposals  (854) - (854) 

Fair value gain on investment - 202 202 

Effects of foreign exchange 41 - 41 

Fair value at 31 December 2020 2,004 1,175 3,179 

Investment disposals  (1,701)  (1,701) 

Investment in subsidiaries (413)  (413) 

Investment additions: 1AF2 bond - 33,620 33,620 

Fair value (loss) on listed investments - (116) (116) 

Foreign exchange adjustment 110 (110) - 

Fair value at 31 December 2021 - 34,569 34.569 

 

  Gains on investments held at fair value through  
  profit or loss 

   

  Fair value (loss) on listed investments  (116) (116) 

  Fair value gain on contingent liability of InnFin 

acquisition 
300 - 300 

  Realised gain on disposal of investments 130 - 130 

  Net gain on investments held at fair value  
  through profit or loss 

430 (116) 314 

 

Fair value measurement 

The table below sets out the fair value measurements using the fair value hierarchy. Categorisation 
within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement of the relevant asset as follows: 
Level 1 – valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 
Level 2 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1. 
Level 3 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based on observable market 
data. 
There were no transfers between categories during the period. 
 

 2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

Categorised as   

Level 1 – quoted investments 34,569 1,175 

Level 2 – unquoted investments valued using quoted prices - - 

Level 3 – unquoted investments  - 2,004 

Further Information on each investment can be found in the Chairman’s Statement on page 2.  

There was no impact to the fair value of the investments held by the Group due to the transition from 

FRS 102 to IFRS.   
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19. Trade and other receivables 

 2021 
£’000 

 2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

 GROUP   COMPANY 

Trade receivables 355  48 142 59 

Other receivables 818  962 3 7 

Prepayments  97  97 8 7 

 1,270  1,107 153 73 
 

The directors consider that the carrying amount of receivables is not materially different to their fair 
value. 
 

20. Trade and other payables 

 2021 
£’000 

 2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

 GROUP   COMPANY 

Trade payables 211  57 7 75 

Taxation and social security 44  8 16 - 

Accruals and other payables 173  173 97 60 

 428  238 120 135 

 

21. Long-term bonds 

GROUP & COMPANY 2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

Opening balance at 1 January 2,945 3,005 3,005 

Bonds issued 13,675 176 176 

Bonds returned  - (403) (403) 

Foreign exchange adjustment  (189) 167 167 

Closing balance at 31 December 16,431 2,945 2,945 
 

The Company launched 5,000 bonds of €1,000 each (the “7% Bonds”) to raise up to €5 million on the 
Vienna Stock Exchange's multilateral trading facility ("MTF") on 26 July 2019. The principal terms of the 
Bonds are as follows: - Issue price and redemption at par; - Interest of 7% per annum paid semi-annually 
in arrears; - Issue date of 26 July 2019 with a redemption date of 26 July 2022. 
 
Bonds that are not issued to third parties remain as issued to the Company for future trading and only 
those that are issued to third parties are recognised as liabilities. At 31 December 2021 a total of 3,990 
(2020: 3,290) bonds representing a liability of €3,990,000 (2020: €3,290,000) had been issued to third 
parties and 1,010 (2020: 1,710) Bonds with a par value of €1,010,000 (2019: €1,710,000) were issued 
to the Company and available to be traded. 
 
In September 2021, the Company launched a €25million 4.8% Fixed Rate five-year Bond Programme, 
with two initial tranches, totalling €15,050,000 (equivalent to £13,675,000) placed at and shortly after 
launch and listed on The Vienna Stock Exchange. 
 
On 19 May 2022, the Company issued a further 5,000 7% Bonds of €1,000 (New 7% Bonds) each to 
various Bondholders, within the same issuing structure and on the same terms as the original 7% 
Bonds. 
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22. Borrowings 

 2021 
£’000 

 2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

20219 
£’000 

At amortised cost: GROUP   COMPANY 

Non-current      

Long-term loans 203  - - 508 

      

Current       

Short-term loans 21,380  21,380 436 338 

      

Fair value:      

Non-current      

Long-term loans 203  - - 508 

      

Current       

Short-term loans 21,380  21,380 436 338 

At 31 December 2021, borrowings comprised of long-term advances from Dominic White with no 
repayment date of £203,000, loans received from IWEP Ltd, net of conversions to equity and other 
offsets for €437,000 and an interest-free vendor loan, also from IWEP of €25 million as part settlement 
for the sale to the Company of a bond of €40 million yielding 2.5% per annum. from 1AF2.  

IWEP Ltd is classified as a related party due to sharing a common director, Dominic White.   
 

23. Provisions 

COMPANY 2021 
£’000 

2020 
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

At 1 January  - 11 3 

(Credited)/Charged to profit and loss  - (11) 8 

At 31 December  - - 11 

The provision was created in 2019 for the potential contribution entitlement due to a Director, that may 
be payable, to a pension scheme of his choice, subject to the relevant conditions being met. The 
performance conditions were not met for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the provision was 
subsequently released. 
 
24. Share capital 

Movements in ordinary share capital are summarised below: 

  
  

Number of 
Ordinary Shares 

of 0.25p 

Number of 
New Ordinary 

Shares of 
0.01p 

Nominal value 
£’000 

As at 1 January 2020 - 633,257,818 63 

Issue of equity   708,000,000 71 

As at 31 December 2020 - 1,341,257,818 134 

Issue of equity  223,057,644 22 

As at 31 December 2021  1,564,315,462 157 
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24. Share capital (continued) 
 
On 14 May 2021, the Company issued new ordinary shares as follows: 

• 67,669,173 new ordinary shares were issued to IWEP to convert £27,000 of the vendor loan;  

• 155,388,471 new ordinary shares (Consideration shares) were issued to Concreta S.r.l in respect 
of the purchase of Innovative Finance S.r.l.  

Movements in Deferred share capital are summarised below: 

  
  

Number of 
Deferred Shares 

of 0.24p 

 Nominal value 
 £’000 

As at 1 January 2020 540,166,760 1,296 

Issue of equity upon conversion of loan note - - 

As at 31 December 2020 540,166,760 1,296 

Issue of equity upon conversion of loan note - - 

As at 31 December 2021 540,166,760 1,296 

 
The deferred shares do not entitle their holders to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general 
meeting of the Company, or to receive any dividend or other distribution. On a return of capital on a 
winding up or dissolution of the Company, the holders of the deferred shares shall be entitled to receive 
an amount equal to the nominal amount paid up thereon, but only after the holders of new ordinary 
shares have received £100,000 per new ordinary share.  

The holders of deferred shares are not entitled to any further right of participation in the assets of the 
Company. The Company shall have the right to purchase the deferred shares in issue at any time for no 
consideration. As such, the deferred shares effectively have no value. Share certificates were not issued 
in respect of the deferred shares, and they have not been admitted to trading on the Aquis Stock 
Exchange Growth Market. 
 
25. Reserves 

The Company’s reserves are as follows: 

- The share premium represents premiums received on the initial issuing of the share capital. Any 
transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net 
of any related income tax benefits. 

- The share option and warrant reserve arise from the requirement to value share options and 
warrants in existence at the grant date (see Note 26).  

- Convertible loan note reserve represents the equity component of convertible bonds issued by 
the Company. 

- Currency translation reserve: Reserve arising from the translation of foreign subsidiaries at 

consolidation. 

- Retained earnings include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 
26. Share option and warrant reserve 
The share option and warrant reserve are made up as follows:  
 
Warrants 
On 26 October 2018 warrants for 52,627,560 shares were issued, which expired on 26 October 2021. 

The total expense for the year in respect of the warrants issued was £nil (2020: £nil). 
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26. Share option and warrant reserve (continued) 
 
Warrants outstanding and their weighted average exercise price are as follows: 

 
Number 

Weighted average 
exercise price (pence) 

Outstanding at 1 January 2020 52,627,760 0.03p 

Issued - 0.03p 

Outstanding at 31 December 2020 52,627,760 0.03p 

Issued - 0.03p 

Outstanding at 31 December 2021 52,627,760 0.03p 

 
The fair value is estimated as at the issue date using a Black-Scholes model, considering the terms and 
conditions upon which the warrants were granted.  The following table lists the inputs to the model. 

 2018 
Exercise price (pence) 0.03p 
Number of warrants 52,627,760 
Risk free interest (%) 1.5% 
Dividend yield 0.0% 
Time to expiration at date of grant (i.e. life of warrants) in years  3  

 

Share options  

On 21 May 2020 the Company granted 134,000,000 share options to the Company’s Directors; 

80,000,000 share options were issued to Dominic White and 54,000,000 share options to Martin Groak. 

  
The total expense for the year in respect of the share options issued was £4,000 (2020: £3,000) 

 
Share options outstanding and their weighted average exercise price are as follows: 

 
Number 

Weighted average 
exercise price (pence) 

Outstanding at 1 January 2020 - - 

Issued 134,000,000 0.025p 

Outstanding at 31 December 2020 134,000,000 0.025p 

Issued - - 

Outstanding at 31 December 2021 134,000,000 0.025p 

 
The fair value is estimated as at the issue date using a Black-Scholes model, considering the terms and 
conditions upon which the warrants were granted.  The following table lists the inputs to the model. 

 2020 
Exercise price (pence) 0.025p 
Number of options 134,000,000 
Volatility 50% 
Risk free interest (%) 0.5% 
Dividend yield 0.0% 
Time to expiration at date of grant (i.e. life of warrants) in years  2  
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27. Convertible Loan Notes   
On 25 October 2018 the Company entered into an agreement which provide a facility for the Company 
to issue up to £2.5m of Convertible Bonds (the "Bonds") to Cosmos SICAV plc Value Added Fund (the 
"Investor"). 
The Bonds will each be valid for twenty-four (24) months (the "Maturity Date") from the date of their 
issue and will be freely transferrable. The key terms of the Bonds are: 
  

- they will be issued at 95% of their nominal value; 
- they can be issued at the Company's election in 50 tranches of £50,000 up to a maximum 

commitment of £2.5million;  
- to the extent issued, each Bond shall carry a coupon of 5%;  
- interest is payable at six-monthly intervals, but the Company may, subject to certain 

conditions, elect to convert any interest due to the Investor into ordinary shares of 0.01 pence 
each in the Company ("Ordinary Shares") at an issue price of 10 per cent. below the 20 Trading 
Day average mid-price of the Ordinary Shares (the "Conversion Price")  

 

On the Maturity Date, any Loan Notes issued but not converted, together with any accrued interest, will 
be mandatorily converted into Ordinary Shares at the Conversion Price. It is a condition of the Bonds 
that such a conversion will only be valid if it will not result in a Bondholder, or any person acting in 
concert with such Bondholder holding Ordinary Shares representing voting rights in excess of 29.9 per 
cent of the Company's entire issued share capital or which would otherwise give rise to the Bondholder 
being required to make a mandatory offer for the remaining ordinary share capital of the Company 
pursuant to Rule 9 of the Takeover Code. 
 
On 6 June 2019, the Company converted £13,155.83 of the drawn down convertible bond facility into 
93,091,058 ordinary shares.  As at the 31 December 2021, the principal outstanding on the issued bonds 
was £84,332 
 
The facility can only be converted to equity at the end of the term or earlier. More specifically, there is 
no contractual obligation to pay cash, no obligation to issue a variable number of shares, or a fixed 
number of shares to settle an instrument whose book value is variable. It has therefore been recognised 
in equity only, with no liability component.  It is expected that these outstanding bonds will be converted 
to equity following the reorganization of the Company’s balance sheet. 
 
28. Financial instruments  
The Board of Directors attribute great importance to professional risk management, proper 
understanding and negotiation of appropriate terms and conditions and active monitoring, including a 
thorough analysis of reports and financial statements and ongoing review of investments made.  
 
The Group has investment guidelines that set out its overall business strategies, its tolerance for risk 
and its general risk management philosophy and has established processes to monitor and control the 
economic impact of these risks. The Board of Directors review and agrees policies for managing the risks 
as summarised below. 
 
The Group has exposures to the following risks from financial instruments:  

• Credit risk  

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 
- Interest rate risk  
- Currency risk 
- Price risk 
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28. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
The Group’s overall risk management process focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 
 
The Group has no interest rate derivative financial instruments (2020: none). 
 
The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below: 

 
2021 

£’000 
 2021 

£’000 
2020 

£’000 
2019 

£’000 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

Financial assets      

Measured at fair value through 
profit and loss 

   
  

Current asset listed investments 
(see Note 18) 

34,569  34,569 1,175 973 

      

Other receivables 818  962 3 7 

      

Measured at cost less impairment       

Current asset investments (see 
Note 18) 

-  - 2,004 2,817 

      

Financial liabilities      

Measured at cost less impairment      

Trade payables  211  57 7 75 

Other payables  217  181 113 60 

 
 
The Company’s income, expense, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are summarised 
below:  

 2021 
£’000 

 2021 
£’000 

2020 

£’000 

2019 

£’000 
 GROUP  COMPANY 

Interest expense      
Total interest expense for 
financial liabilities 377 

 
377 234 110 

      
Fair value gains and losses      

On listed investments measured 
at fair value through profit and 
loss 314 

 

314 228 162 
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28. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company is subject to credit risk on its 
investments and cash.  
 

In accordance with the Company’s policy, the Board of Directors monitors the Company’s exposure to 
credit risk on an ongoing basis. The credit quality of the investments in equities and debt securities, 
which are held at fair value and include debt and equity elements, is based on the financial performance 
of the individual investments and they are not rated. 
 

The Company only deposits its cash with major banking institutions. The risk is therefore considered to 
be limited. 
 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk arises from the Company’s management of working capital. It is the risk that the Company 
will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.  
 
The Company’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities 
when they become due. To achieve this aim, it seeks to maintain cash balances to meet expected 
requirements for a period of at least 30 days. The majority of the investments held by the Company are 
quoted and not subject to specific restrictions on transferability or disposal. However, the risk exists 
that the Company might not be able to readily dispose of its holdings in such markets at the time of its 
choosing and also that the price attained on a disposal may be below the amount at which such 
investments were included in the Company’s balance sheet. 
 

GROUP 
 
At 31 December 2021 

Less than  
1 year 
£’000 

Between 
1 and 2 years 

£’000 

Between  
2 and 3 years 

£’000 

Long-term     

Borrowings 203 - - 

Long-term bond - - 16,431 

    

Short-term    

Borrowings 21,380 - - 

Trade and other payables 428 - - 

    

COMPANY 
At 31 December 2021 

   

Long-term     

Borrowings - - - 

Long-term bond - - 16,431 

    

Short-term    

Borrowings  21,380 - - 

Trade and other payables 238 - - 
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28. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Market risk  
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as equity prices, foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Company’s sensitivity to these items is set out below. 

a) Interest rate risk  
The Company holds quoted debt securities at fixed rates of interest and is therefore exposed to 
interest rate risk. The impact of an increase or decrease on interest rates of 100 basis points on cash 
and deposits, based on the closing balance sheet position over a 12-month period, is considered 
immaterial.  

b) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
In addition, the Company has indirect exposure to interest rates through changes to the financial 
performance and valuation in equity investments in the companies that have issued debt caused by 
interest rate fluctuations. Short term receivables and payables are excluded as the risks due to 
fluctuation in the prevailing levels of market interest rates associated with these instruments are 
not significant and is limited to the Company’s investments. 

c) Currency risk  
The Company’s holds Euro denominated investments to the total of €3,990,000, which expose the 
Company to the risk that the exchange rate of the Euro against the pound will change in a manner 
which adversely impacts the Company’s net profit and net assets attributable to shareholders. A 
10% increase in the Euro exchange rate against the pound would result in an increase in fair value 
of those bonds of approximately £370,000. A 10% decrease in exchange rates against the pound 
would have an equal and opposite effect. 

d) Price risk  
The Company’s management of price risk, which arises primarily from quoted and unquoted equity 
and debt instruments, is through the selection of financial assets within specified limits as approved 
by the Board of Directors. 

For quoted equity securities, the market risk variable is deemed to be the market price itself. A 10% 
change in the price of those investments would have a direct impact on the statement of 
comprehensive income and statement of financial position.  At 31 December 2021, the effect of 
such a change in market price would have been approximately £95,000 (2020: £120,000).  
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29. Related party transactions 

Administrative services 
During the year, the Company was invoiced £15,500 (2020: £31,400) for administrative services 
provided by Marker Management Services Ltd, a company controlled by Martin Groak, a director of 
Eight Capital. 

Acquisition of a €2 million receivable from Finance Partners Group and conversion to equity  
On 7 August 2019 the Company announced the acquisition from IWEP Ltd. (“IWEP”) of a €2 million 
convertible receivable (the “Receivable”) from Finance Partners Group SpA (“FPG”), an Italian financial 
services company that invests in private companies seeking future listings on public markets and whose 
principal investment was in The AvantGarde Group.  

On 14 May 2021, the Company converted £27,000 of the loan with IWEP Ltd into 67,699,173 new 
ordinary shares at a price of £0.00039 per share. 

IWEP is a company connected to Eight Capital Partners' Chairman Dominic White. In August 2019 
Dominic White agreed to become a non-executive board member of The Avantgarde Group to monitor 
the Company's and IWEP's interests. 
 
30. Ultimate controlling entity 
There was no single controlling party as at 31 December 2021. 
 

31. Post balance sheet events  

On 23 May 2022, the Company announced that it had issued a further €5 million tranche of its 7% Bond 
to a third party that had acquired €5 million of the Vendor Loan from IWEP. In that announcement, ECP 
also reinforced its commitment to a transformational strengthening of the Company’s balance sheet 
through IWEP seeking to convert, subject to regulatory and shareholder consent, as much as possible 
of its debt with the Company into equity. 

On 24 June 2022, the company announced that at a Bondholder meeting held on 23 June, an 
Extraordinary Resolution approved a proposal to modify the terms and conditions of the 7% Bond such 
that the terms align with the more recently issued €25m 4.8% Bond repayable on 3 September 2026. 

 

 
 




